
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 11 April 2016

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 14 April 2016

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 11 April 2016

CABINET
Thursday 14 April 2016

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 March 2016 
(Pages 1 - 10)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 11 
April 2016 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Implementing the Dartford Development Policies Plan (Pages 11 
- 22)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. The Report evaluates responses to the latest public 
consultation on the Development Policies Local Plan, 
published in January 2016. It considers which draft Policies 
may form weighty considerations in the determination of 
planning applications. 

2. This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects 
on communities living or working in an area of the Borough 



comprising two or more wards.

Recommendations:

1. That policies DP1 to DP8, DP10 to DP19 and DP21 to DP25 of 
Dartford’s published Development Policies Local Plan be 
approved and applied immediately and that the Development 
Control Board be recommended to give appropriate weight to 
these policies in its decision making process.

2. That Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) be advised to 
give the policies referred to in paragraph 2.1 above 
appropriate weight in its decisions on planning applications. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

8. Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 
2016 (Pages 23 - 26)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. From 9 May 2016, a waste collection authority in England will 
be allowed to issue a fixed penalty notice (FPN) for fly tipping, 
a contravention of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
(EPA 1990). This provides local authorities with a more 
efficient and proportionate response to small-scale fly-tipping 
of waste. 

2. The new provisions provide for a fine of not less than £150 and 
not more than £400 as specified by the waste collection 
authority, and £200 if no amount is specified by the authority. 

Recommendations:

1. That Members note the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed 
Penalties) Regulations 2016 which come into force on 9 May 
2016.

2. That the penalty charge for Unauthorised Deposit of Waste 
(Fixed Penalty Notices) be set at £400 (four hundred pounds) 
reduced to £250 (two hundred and fifty pounds), if paid within 
10 days. 

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Strategic Director 
(External Services) under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 (as amended) to make appropriate arrangements for the 
issuing of fixed penalty notices for the unauthorised deposit of 
waste. 



9. Street Naming and Numbering - Fastrack Manor Way (Pages 27 - 
30)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To approve the renaming of Fastrack Manor Way.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet approve Tiltman Avenue as the new road name. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

10. Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: 
Consultation on Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy - 
Further Submission (Pages 31 - 40)

SD (ES)

Summary:

To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to an 
additional response to the Government’s consultation on 
proposed changes to the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), relating to an additional response to the 
Government’s consultation on proposed changes to the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 3 March 2016 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

100. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

101. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

102. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 
JANUARY 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 21 January 2016 be 
confirmed.

103. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

104. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 29 FEBRUARY 2016 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 29 
February 2016 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

105. REFERENCE FROM JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD: TRAFFIC 
ENFORCEMENT AT PRINCES INTERCHANGE 

This report informed Cabinet of the response received from the Kent Police 
Service to a request made by the Joint Transportation Board for traffic 
enforcement at the Princes Interchange.

Members noted that the need to enforce yellow box restrictions on the Princes 
Interchange roundabout had not been included in the additional measures 
recently announced by Highways England to address congestion caused by 
Dartford Crossing Traffic. They did however note that additional yellow box 
restrictions had been proposed but thought that these would not have any 
effect unless actively enforced and questioned whether the police had been 



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

2

consulted on this proposal. They also noted that the remote CCTV 
enforcement of yellow box junctions was not possible because the required 
legislation did not exist, but advised that the local MP was lobbying for the 
legislation in this area to be changed.

Members then discussed whether the presence of a Highways Agency or 
police vehicle at the junction during times of congestion might discourage 
drivers from blocking the yellow box areas thus improving traffic flow, but 
concluded that active police enforcement would be the only way to ease 
congestion for local residents in the area.

Members referred to the cost of actively policing the yellow box junctions and 
suggested that the fines that were to be imposed due to the problems that 
have been experienced with the Dart Charge system should be redirected to 
fund the provision of additional police resources rather than using tax payers’ 
money. They also thought that the Highways Agency and police should have 
a procedure in place which would enable them to act whenever an accident or 
emergency, likely to cause a build-up of traffic at the Dartford Tunnel, 
occurred.

During further discussion Members echoed the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s 
disappointment at the police’s response and felt that they should accept that 
they have a part to play in resolving the ongoing problem.

Members also noted that a special Joint Transportation Board was being 
convened to discuss the subject in more detail and confirmed that 
representatives from all the key agencies involved would be attending.

Members asked that a robust letter be prepared and sent to Patrick 
McLoughlin MP, the Secretary of State for Transport, summarising their 
discussion and proposals.

RESOLVED:

That a robust letter be prepared and sent to Patrick McLoughlin MP, the 
Secretary of State for Transport, highlighting the concerns expressed by 
Members and the proposals that had been put forward.

106. KENT ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY 

Kent County Council (KCC) has produced a Kent Environment Strategy 
setting out how it proposed to respond to the pressures facing Kent’s 
environment, particularly as a result of carbon emissions and climate change. 
KCC had invited the District Councils in Kent to adopt the strategy in order to 
provide a basis for co-ordinated action.

Members noted the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel and endorsed the views expressed in relation to enhanced air quality 
monitoring given the high volume of traffic passing through the borough on the 
main trunk routes.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

3

The Chairman noted that the Council was required to monitor and report on 
local air quality and produce a management plan, but had no power to 
address the prime cause of air pollution in the Borough.

Members requested that the response to KCC highlights their air quality 
concerns and asks that a practical solution to address poor air quality in 
Dartford be found.

RESOLVED:

1. That the content of the Kent Environment Strategy be noted.

2. That Kent County Council be informed that this Council will support the 
development and implementation of the Kent Environment Strategy in 
so far as it is consistent with this Council’s corporate priorities and to 
the extent that resources will allow, and that a practical solution to 
address air quality concerns in Dartford needs be found.

107. DRAFT DISABLED ADAPTATIONS POLICY FOR COUNCIL TENANTS 
2016 

Part 1 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 places 
a statutory obligation on the Council to provide specialist adaptations to meet 
the care and mobility needs of people with disabilities to enable them to live 
independently with privacy and dignity.

In order to meet this Council’s statutory obligation, in a fair and transparent 
manner, a draft Disabled Adaptations Policy (DAP) had been developed 
which set out how the Council will provide disabled adaptations to council 
tenants.

The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the version of the report that had 
been tabled at the meeting and advised that it had been further revised 
following its consideration by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and input from other 
interested parties. He then referred to the Council’s excellent record for the 
delivery of acceptable and proportionate adaptations, and the short length of 
time taken for the Council to assess and implement requested adaptations.

Members referred to representations that had been received from a member 
of the public who had challenged the legality of the Council’s Policy in a 
previously received complaint. They said that he had also questioned the way 
that the complaint had been addressed and had also voiced further concern 
with the versions of the Policies that had been considered by the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel for this, and the following, agenda item.

The Chairman noted that some of the issues previously raised by the 
complainant had been addressed and referred to the inclusion of the ability for 
applicants to use independent agents in order to assist them when making an 
application. He also then noted that the use of an independent agent to 



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

4

progress applications for disabled adaptation can result in additional cost for 
the Council and the fact that this would act to reduce the amount of overall 
funding available to carry out adaptations. He said that Dartford Council 
focused on service delivery and aimed to ensure that required adaptations are 
delivered as quickly and efficiently as possible. The Strategic Director 
(External Services) confirmed how officers act to liaise with the various parties 
involved and noted how the Council was able to deliver minor adaptations 
within weeks of them being approved. Another Member with experience of 
disabled adaptations delivery noted how other local authorities can sometimes 
take up to a year to deliver required adaptations.

In response to a question relating to the fact that flush floor showers and level 
access trays would only be installed on the ground floor of a house the 
Strategic Director (External Services) replied that Council had had previous 
experience of flooding to lower floors when a shower had been installed on 
the first floor, and that installation of a shower on an upper floor may also then 
require the additional installation of a stairlift.

Members discussed whether the Council had ever received any complaints in 
relation to disabled adaptations that had been carried out and were advised 
by the Strategic Director (External Services) that they had always been able 
to meet an applicant’s requirements by carrying out adaptations, or moving 
the applicant to a more suitable home. Members felt that residents’ 
satisfaction with the Council’s disabled adaptations approach, and the short 
length of time taken to deliver required adaptations, should be captured and 
promoted where possible.

Members approved the Policy as attached to the report and wished to thank 
all those who had made a contribution towards it. They then suggested that 
the service be reviewed in a year’s time to confirm that adaptations continue 
to be delivered in a successful and timely way.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Disabled Adaptations Policy for Council Tenants 2016, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

2. That delegation be granted to the Strategic Director (External Services) 
as set out in paragraph 3.6. of the report.

108. DRAFT DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS POLICY 2016 

Under Part 1 of the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
the Council has a statutory obligation to provide mandatory disabled facilities 
grants to  provide specialist adaptations to meet the care and mobility needs 
of people with disabilities to enable them to live independently with privacy 
and dignity.

In order to meet the Council’s statutory obligations in a fair and transparent 
manner, a draft Disabled Facilities Grants Policy (DFG) had been developed 



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

5

which set out how the Council will provide disabled facilities grants within the 
private housing sector.

The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the version of the report that had 
been tabled at the meeting and advised that it had been further revised 
following its consideration by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and input from other 
interested parties.

Having noted the discussion that had taken place during consideration of the 
previous item, and in response to a Member’s comment, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) advised that the ‘not for profit’ Home Improvement Agency 
was available to be used as an agent if required, but noted that this did not 
preclude clients from nominating an alternative agent to assist them if they 
wished.

Having noted that many of the comments made for the previous agenda item 
also applied to this agenda item Members approved the Policy attached to the 
report.

Members asked that their thanks be passed to officers for the work that had 
gone into producing both the ‘Disabled Adaptations Policy for Council Tenants 
2016’ and ‘Disabled Facilities Grants Policy 2016’.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Disabled Facilities Grants Policy, attached at Appendix A 
to the report, be approved.

2. That any required minor changes to the Policy be delegated to the 
Strategic Director (External Services).

109. FOOD LAW SERVICE PLAN 2015/16 

This report provided for Members’ information the Dartford and Sevenoaks 
Environmental Health Partnership’s Food Law Service Plan, as recommended 
following a service audit by the Food Standards Agency (FSA).

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained how the audit that had 
been carried out by the FSA in June 2015 had recommended that the Food 
Law Service Plan be submitted to Members for approval. She also advised 
that this was the first time that the service had been audited and that the 
auditors had been particularly interested in how the operation was being 
delivered as a joint service. She said that the auditors had been impressed 
with the delivery of the joint service and had raised very few issues, mainly of 
an administrative nature. She then referred to the discussion that had taken 
place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel meeting where it had been explained that 
the Action Plan that had been included as an appendix to the report had been 
prepared to address specifically the issues that had been identified by the 
audit and was not intended to be a broader service improvement plan.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

6

In response to a question relating to the provision of food safety training 
courses the Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed that courses are 
still being run in partnership with a number of other Kent local authorities and 
take place at a number of different locations. Members also referred to a very 
useful food safety briefing that they had received some time ago, which had 
given them an insight into the level of expertise required by those who carry 
out inspections. 

Members welcomed the Plan and the results of the audit and wished to 
congratulate staff on the high quality service being provided.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Food Law Service Plan 2015/16, attached at Appendix A to 
the report, be approved.

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Strategic Director (External 
Services) to approve subsequent plans, subject to those plans not 
departing in any material way from the plan at Appendix A to the report, 
other than as necessary to comply with changes to legislation or Food 
Standards Agency requirements.

110. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 

This report sought Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 
2016/17 and the provisional calendar for 2017/18.

In response to a question it was confirmed the meeting dates proposed had 
taken the recently announced date of the EU referendum into consideration.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2016/17 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2017/18 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council for agreement.

111. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 

This report asked Members to consider granting discretionary rate relief to 
ratepayers who have made applications in respect of 2016/17.

RESOLVED:

That the level of discretionary rate relief for 2016/17 for the organisations 
listed in Appendix A to the report be determined in accordance with the 
detailed recommendations set out in that Appendix.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

7

112. HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENT WRITE-OFF 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Housing Benefit 
overpayments where recovery was prohibited, was not considered 
appropriate or where the customer had absconded.

RESOLVED:

That the sum of £84,498.20, shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed 
part of the agenda, be written off as irrecoverable. 

113. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Non Domestic Rate 
debts where it had not been possible to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer could not be traced or where the debt was 
otherwise irrecoverable.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed part of the 
agenda, amounting to £178,421.87, be written off as uncollectible.

114. WRITE-OFF OF COUNCIL TAX 

This report asked Members to consider the writing-off of Council Tax where it 
had not been possible to obtain payment because the taxpayer could not be 
traced or the debt was otherwise irrecoverable.

RESOLVED:

That the sums shown in Appendix A to the report in the closed part of the 
agenda, amounting to £11,265.80, be written off as uncollectible.

115. DARTFORD GRAMMAR SCHOOL - PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE 
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

Dartford Grammar School’s Governing Body is seeking to modernise its 
governance arrangements and to reflect the School’s conversion to academy 
status which took place in 2010. The School’s current scheme of governance 
dates back to 1910 and was last amended in 1946. This detailed 
arrangements for the composition of the Governing Body which included a 
provision for two members of the Governing Body to be appointed by the 
‘Urban District Council of Dartford’. 

The Council has not made any appointments to the Governing Body for many 
years and the proposed revised arrangements would not provide for 
appointments by the Council. The Governing Body was seeking the Council’s 
consent to the removal of its rights to appoint trustees under the new 
governance scheme.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

8

Members expressed surprise at the fact that Member appointments to the 
school’s Governing Body had not been made for some time and suggested 
that the practice may have ceased when the Council had changed from being 
the ‘Urban District Council of Dartford’.

Members commented on the school’s performance and achievements and 
noted how Councillors were currently able to involve themselves in school 
activities. They therefore agreed that the school would not need direct 
Member representation on its new Governing Body.

RESOLVED:

That the Council consents to the removal of its rights to appoint trustees to the 
Governing Body of the Dartford Grammar School under the School’s 
proposed new governance arrangements and that the Clerk to the Governing 
Body be advised accordingly.

116. STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING - ST CLEMENTS LAKES PHASE 2 & 
ST MARYS ROAD 

This report asked Members to approve three new road names for the second 
phase of the St Clements Lakes development and a new road name for a 
development at the rear of St Marys Road.

In response to the observation that there was already a Havelock Road in the 
Borough of Dartford the Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed that 
the new road would be given a different suffix to avoid any confusion.

Members endorsed the four road names that had been proposed in the report.

RESOLVED:

1. That Engelsine, Havelock and Stigand be approved as the new road 
names for the second phase of the St Clements lakes development.

2. That Barley be approved as the new road name for the development 
at the rear of St Marys Road.

117. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 3 of 2015-16.

Members noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had again focused on those 
indicators that were being reported as an alert but said that they understood 
how the reported statuses allowed managers to identify those areas which 
required particular attention, and confirmed that they were committed to the 
delivery of quality services to residents.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

9

Members then referred to the indicator which related to the number of 
affordable houses completed and were advised by the Strategic Director 
(External Services) that, following recent good progress, the latest projection 
was that 131 affordable homes would be delivered by the year end.

Members also discussed the household waste recycling target and wished to 
emphasise the fact that 95% of the rubbish produced by the residents of 
Dartford is either recycled, or is burned in order to produce energy, and that 
only 5% ends up as ‘land fill’. Members also agreed that direct performance 
indicator comparisons with other Councils can prove to be difficult to achieve 
because of the differing ways that services are delivered and associated 
results measured.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

118. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
15 DECEMBER 2015 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 15 December 2015.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 15 
December 2015 be noted.

119. WRITE-OFF OF HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPHS 1 & 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 112), the appendix be 
noted.

120. WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 113), the appendix be 
noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 3 MARCH 2016

10

121. WRITE-OFF OF COUNCIL TAX - EXEMPT APPENDIX A
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 3) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 114), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.05 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

APPLYING THE DEVELOPMENT POLICIES LOCAL PLAN 

1. Summary

1.1 The Report evaluates responses to the latest public consultation on the 
Development Policies Local Plan, published in January 2016. It considers 
which draft Policies may form weighty considerations in the determination of 
planning applications. 

1.2 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

To Cabinet:

2.1 That policies DP1 to DP8, DP10 to DP19 and DP21 to DP25 of Dartford’s 
published Development Policies Local Plan be approved and applied 
immediately and that the Development Control Board be recommended to 
give appropriate weight to these policies in its decision making process.

2.2 That Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) be advised to give the 
policies referred to in paragraph 2.1 above appropriate weight in its decisions 
on planning applications.

To the Development Control Board:

2.3 To note and endorse the decision by Cabinet to apply the identified policies 
(DP1 to DP8, DP10 to DP19 and DP21 to DP25) with immediate effect and to 
give appropriate weight to these in making decisions on planning 
applications. 

3. Background

3.1 The Development Policies Local Plan cannot yet be presented for formal 
adoption and full use by Council. Therefore, this report focuses on the 
current application of the draft Plan in development management 
particularly as its explicit purpose is to update policies used in common 
planning applications. 

3.2 The Council agreed to the publication of the Development Policies Local 
Plan in December 2015. As a result, representations on the ‘soundness’ 
and legal compliance of the Plan were made between 22 January and 4 
March 2016. 

3.3 The Council agreed the Plan could proceed through to the next formal 
stages subject to consultation with the Local Plan Members’ Working 



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

Group (LLMWG), to verify that issues of major significance had not been 
raised during the consultation. The consultation with the Working Group 
was undertaken on 29 March 2016 at a meeting chaired by the chairman 
of the Development Control Board.

3.4 The representations, along with an updated suite of supporting 
documents, will be forwarded to the Secretary of State on formal 
‘Submission’ of the Plan by the Council in the spring/early summer. This 
will commence ‘Public Examination’ of the Plan by the Planning 
Inspectorate to determine if it is capable of adoption by the Council later 
in the year. 

4. National Planning Policy Framework

4.1 Advice on when it is appropriate to apply draft policies is in paragraph 
216 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

“From the day of publication, decision-takers may also give weight  to
relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
● the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
● the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant 
policies (the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the 
weight that may be given); and
● the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan 
to the policies in this Framework (the closer the policies in the 
emerging plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given).”

4.2 The first point in relation to the phase of preparation of the Plan is 
relatively simple. The Plan benefited from previous rounds of public 
consultation (where it received broad support), and it is has now passed 
its milestone publication stage, and the Council has approved policies it 
specifically considers ‘sound’. Furthermore, individual policies will gain 
further weight as the Examination proceeds. 

4.3 The latter two points in the NPPF criteria require a policy-by-policy 
analysis. This is found in the Appendix to this report, along with a full list 
of policies. 

4.4 For ease of reference, each policy in the Appendix has a summary 
categorisation that has been grouped and colour coded. This shows 
amber and green colours predominate for NPPF, which means they are 
in general to very high conformity. The range of views of consultees is 
more disparate, however many ambers can be seen: policies typically 
receive no/ only relatively limited objection. Regard has been had to the 
significance of individual objections. There is one potential exception for 
each consideration, and the considerations are explained in the 
remainder of this report.



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

4.5 The issue of conformity with the NPPF has been examined throughout 
preparation of the Plan. A specific supporting document already details 
the alignment of the Plan, the adopted Core Strategy and national policy 
which confirms the consistency of the Council’s Development Plan in 
totality with all national policy. 

4.6 However, for the purposes of this report, a summary reassessment has 
been undertaken in light of representations received (this is a current 
officer view, not a fixed definitive conclusion of the Council and does not 
change the Council’s position that the Plan is sound). 

4.7 It can be seen that all policies are in general (or greater) conformity with 
the NPPF. The exception may be policy DP9 (Local Housing Needs). 

4.8 The particular current issue with policy DP9, and its provisions on 
Starter Homes and custom/self-build housing plots, is the need to reflect 
national policy/legislation which is still subject to development and 
change. Strictly speaking, the NPPF guidance only refers to consistency 
with the Framework itself – and the policy scores very well - however it 
seems sensible to also have regard to draft policy and legislation. As 
stated, this leads to uncertainty because the means of implementation 
of government aspirations has been evolving and several key affordable 
housing and other issues have not yet been fully clarified. 

4.9 Therefore in considering applying a policy drafted last year, caution is 
recommended in this respect (specifically policy DP9) at present.

5. Responses to the Published Plan

5.1 Initial analysis of representations reveals, in summary:

 57 responses were received, a significant reduction from 
consultation on the previous draft of the Plan.  Representations 
made are available for public inspection.

 These were 46% by developers/ landowners, 44% public sector/ 
utility company, 10% other. 

 The majority of representations received expressing a clear view 
were objections. The predominance of these, especially those 
from developers in relation to national policy compliance, often 
carry over points made at the previous consultation stage.

 Respondents thought the document is easy to read, although a 
small number highlighted challenges of examining the other 
related documents.  

5.2 The paragraph 216 NPPF final ‘test’ - of unresolved objections - is, in 
this instance, heavily bound up with national policy compliance (this  



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

may  reflect the fact that many objections are  from national developers/ 
consultants).

5.3 The NPPF criterion requires regard to the “significance” of the 
objections. In this respect certain points should be made in relation to 
specific responses received:

 The volume of objections for nearly all of the 25 policies is very low.
 Objections to policies are heavily focused on details such as the 

precise wording/ interpretation, queries over background evidence or 
implementation, the narrow impact on individual sites, or are capable 
of being rectified through a change to the Policies Map (not the 
principle of the policy).

 Some objections were replicated over a number of policies with 
limited individual justification. 

5.4 Some focused and detailed representations were received, particularly 
from developers of particular sites. The only policy on which these were 
particularly recurrent was on policy DP20 (Identified Employment 
Areas). Although it gained some support, there were around 10 
objections, including those who wanted their land covered by its 
provisions via the Policies Map, as well as those who do not want the 
policy to cover their land, or want  the policy to be relaxed. 

5.5 Given this, and having regard to national policy, it is thought likely to be 
appropriate not to yet apply policy DP20.

5.6 It is considered that Core Strategy policies, notably CS19:1 and CS7:1c 
can be used for development management purposes in the short-term, 
until adoption of DP9 and DP20 (respectively), allied with national 
policy. 

5.7 Additionally, officers can report Gravesham and Thurrock Councils 
challenged the legal compliance and soundness of the Plan: several 
points are raised in relation to Bluewater (under policy DP14), national 
policy, and the Duty to Cooperate. The Duty to Cooperate cannot be 
rectified after submission of the plan. Nevertheless, their current 
positions reflect past discussions/perceived issues with adopted Core 
Strategy policy, and the issues reiterated will be tackled through 
ongoing dialogue on enhanced cooperation. 

5.8 Policy DP14 as a whole is concerned with centres across the Borough 
and is considered consistent with national policy. There are negligible 
other major objections and it is not recommended to dis-apply the policy 
now given the consideration that will be given to the points made at 
Examination in Public of the Plan.



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

6. Conclusion

6.1 The good alignment of policies with national policy together with very 
low levels of objection in relation to other points provides robust 
justification to usually accord significant weight to draft policies, 
alongside adopted Core Strategy policy. Accordingly it is recommended 
23 out of 25 draft polices be applied at this stage.

6.2 The Plan and all policies are considered to remain sound as written but 
it is not considered prudent, if adopting a precautionary approach, to yet 
apply DP9 and DP20, pending binding confirmation of soundness and 
legal compliance by the Planning Inspector after Examination in Public. 

6.3 The Development Control Board will still need to identify all relevant 
other material considerations, including current/emerging national 
policy, and carefully consider the relative weight to attach in determining 
planning applications. 

6.4 It is recommended the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) be 
advised to give the policies appropriate weight in its decisions on 
planning applications, as a key body applying Dartford planning policies.

6.5 In relation to saved 1995 policies used for planning applications, these 
will remain a material consideration until deleted on adoption of the 
Development Policies Plan. 

7. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

7.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all of our communities. 

7.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to 
service users. 

7.3 To promote an environment which is attractive, adapted to climate 
change and which provides a realistic choice of travel options

8. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications Considered in the report.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Considered in the report. 



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL BOARD
21 APRIL 2016

9. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

10. Appendices

Appendix A - Policy-by-policy assessment.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin(01322) 
343202

Regenerati
on Services

N/A



APPENDIX A: Policy-by-Policy Assessment

Key to Policy Numbering (recommend to apply now policies in bold)

Cross cutting topics:

 Policy DP1: Dartford’s Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
 Policy DP2: Good Design in Dartford  
 Policy DP3: Transport Impacts of Development  
 Policy DP4: Transport Access and Design  
 Policy DP5: Environmental and Amenity Protection  

Housing: 

 Policy DP6: Sustainable Residential Locations  
 Policy DP7: Borough Housing Stock and Residential Amenity              
 Policy DP8: Residential Space and Design in New Development             
 Policy DP9: Local Housing Needs
 Policy DP10: Gypsies and Travellers Accommodation   

       

Policy DP11: Sustainable Technology and Construction

Heritage and the Historic Environment:

 Policy DP12: Historic Environment Strategy
 Policy DP13: Designated Heritage Assets



Dartford Town Centre and Shopping:

 Policy DP14: Retail and Town Centre Development
 Policy DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its Primary Frontage
 Policy DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s Secondary Areas
 Policy DP17: District Centres
 Policy DP18: Neighbourhood Centres
 Policy DP19: Food and Drink Establishments

Policy DP20: Identified Employment Areas            

Policy DP21: Securing Community Facilities

The Green and Open Space Network:

 Policy DP22: Green Belt in the Borough
 Policy DP23: Protected Local Green Space                        
 Policy DP24: Open Space            
 Policy DP25: Nature Conservation and Enhancement 

           



Assessment Table

Policy 
Number 

Initial officer reassessment of NPPF conformity in 
light of responses

Overall officer summary balance of responses (provisional) on 
policy and associated supporting text

1.  Very high 
Purpose of policy is to address NPPF directly, and 
wording is strongly aligned with a national ‘model’ policy.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objectors seek replication of national policy phrasing, or more 
general concerns about the approach to Local Plan production. No 
particular objection to the thrust of such a policy, if included. 

2.  High conformity
Good design is a requirement of the NPPF and policy 
content reflects nationally recognised principles, 
particularly the overarching requirements of clauses 2&3.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections on this policy are generally on points of detail e.g. seek 
reference to certain design issues.

3.  General
Policy has general principles in line with national 
strategy.

 Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objection
No particular strong theme in the objections received.

4.  General 
Good consistency with the spirit of national policy, and is 
not categorised higher as policy includes more details 
than NPPF.

 Supportive replies  slightly exceeds levels of objection
Objections on this policy are on points of detail.

5.  General 
Clause 1 which is likely to be used very regularly is 
wholly in line with national principles; Clause 2 is more 
concerned with locally significant issues. 

 Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objection
Objections on this policy are on points of detail. Support from water 
companies and agencies.

6.  General 
Clauses 1&3 are strongly in accordance with NPPF; 
Clause 2 is more concerned with locally significant issues 
but applies national priorities such as focusing on 
brownfield land and local services.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections generally seek greater flexibility in particular criteria.

7.  General 
Clauses 1&2 which are likely to be used  regularly are 
wholly in line with national  principles; Clauses 3&4 
includes more details than NPPF.

 Supportive replies  slightly exceeds levels of objection
No objection received to the policy 



8.  General 
Clauses 1&2 draw directly from national benchmark 
housing standards and are applied flexibly with 
recognition of factors flagged up in NPPF e.g. viability. 
Clauses 3&4 are more concerned with locally significant 
issues of major new residential development but are not 
prescriptive and align with NPPF aims.

 Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objection
Objections generally challenge the justification for applying National 
Housing Standards, although their application is also supported.

9.  Less certain
The policy aims to address the direction of change in 
government affordable and other housing policy, 
however it is hard to be certain of alignment with future 
policy /legislation given uncertainty in how it will be 
finalised and implemented. However it is anticipated 
clarity will emerge before Plan adoption.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections generally seek greater flexibility or alternatively more 
certainty on new types of housing provision eg Starter Homes and 
custom/self-build plots. 

10.  General
National policy in this respect is less well developed but 
this approach picks up national policy in many respects 
eg a 5year supply and criteria in clause 3.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
One objection was received about part of the policy. 

11.  High conformity 
The main specific requirement of this policy is seeking to 
apply the national higher water efficiency standard 
(Clause 1). There is wide recognition of the local need for 
this and its limited viability impacts. Criteria in clause 3 
and particularly 2 are derived from national guidance. 

 Supportive replies  slightly exceeds levels of objection
Support from water companies and agencies. Objections focused on 
higher national water efficiency requirements.

12.  General
Draws from national policy, with relevant criteria, some 
clauses directly seek application of national policy.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections focused on need and compliance with national policy.  

13.  High conformity 
Directly drawn from national policy.

 Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objection
No clear objection received. 

14.  General
Clause 1 applies the well-established and NPPF featured 
‘centre first’ principle through the national sequential test. 
Clauses 2 and 3 apply the national impact test, and 
national policy is explicitly related to Bluewater, along 

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
The main objections relate to Bluewater and national policy 
compliance, and raise Duty to Cooperate points. Other comments 
were on specific points or mixtures of support but with objection on 
certain details of town centre protection.  



with adopted Core Strategy. Clause 4’s general 
principles accord with national aims.  

15.  General 
A focus on the town centre accords well with national 
policy, as does identification of primary frontage.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections split between respondent seeking more flexibility versus 
respondent seeking tighter boundary.

16.  High conformity
Identification of secondary frontage, with sufficient 
flexibility of use, accords very well with national policy.

 Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objection
Objections split on Prospect Place.

17.  General 
Identification of local centres, with sufficient flexibility of 
use, accords well with national policy.

 Nil
No substantive comments received.

18.  General 
Identification of local centres, with sufficient flexibility of 
use, accords well with national policy.

 Nil
No substantive comments received.

19.  General 
The policy provides more details than in the NPPF but 
applies nationally relevant factors.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objection to relationship with national policy.

20.  General
Many clauses of this policy set out flexibility for 
supporting economic development a sought in the NPPF 
through complementary services etc. However the NPPF 
does not explicitly provide for protecting and retaining 
employment areas.

 Objections well outnumber supportive replies
At around 10 representations, this policy received the greatest 
volume of objections. This may reflect the large number of 
businesses that were directly informed of proposals. 
Most replies are site-specific. A number seek exclusion from the 
Policy, but others seek recognition for employment use via the Map. 
Objections included some representations querying relationship with 
national/ Core strategy policy and/or seeking greater flexibility. 
However comments were also received seeking greater coverage in 
different situations to deliver redevelopment. 

21.  General
Promoting healthy and active communities is supported 
in the NPPF, guarding against unnecessary loss of 
facilities, which is the approach of this policy

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Sport England (like others) has welcomed the inclusion of this policy 
but is the one objector.

22.  High conformity
This policy directly and indirectly applies national policy 
on Green Belt.

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Objections generally relate to detailed wording.



23.  High conformity
This policy is inspired by specific NPPF policy and aims 
in respect of considerations such as tranquillity. 

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
One objection seeks exemption for (waste)water infrastructure, the 
other policy is unnecessary. 

24.  General
The policy, particularly the retention criteria in clause 1, 
draws directly from the NPPF; although it is recognised 
there is always scope for challenge on individual sites as 
too its precise local applicability. 

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
This policy received, relatively speaking, a fairly high level of 
objection. However these all only seek individual changes to the Map 
(judgements on specific sites) or - in a couple of instances - parts of 
the policy in relation to national policy. 

25.  General
This policy is inspired by specific NPPF policy and aims, 
and has been directly applied in some clauses, although 
the policy goes on to address other requirements such as 
national transposition of European habitats requirements. 

 Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies
Nearly all objections, apart from very detailed supporting text/policy 
points, relate to North Kent habitats mitigation. In particular they 
focus on potential implications for implementation not specified or 
necessarily arises from the Plan. 

Colour legend in Table:

Initial officer reassessment of 
NPPF conformity in light of 
responses

Overall officer summary balance of responses (provisional) on 
policy and associated supporting text

Very high Supportive replies  slightly exceeds levels of objection

High conformity Nil 
Supportive  replies approximately equal level of objectionGeneral 

Objections limited but more numerous than supportive replies

Less certain Objections well outnumber supportive replies



CABINET
  14 APRIL 2016

UNAUTHORISED DEPOSIT OF WASTE (FIXED PENALTIES) 
REGULATIONS 2016

 
1. Summary

1.1 From 9 May 2016, a waste collection authority in England will be allowed to 
issue a fixed penalty notice (FPN) for fly tipping, a contravention of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 1990). This provides local authorities 
with a more efficient and proportionate response to small-scale fly-tipping of 
waste. 

1.2 The new provisions provide for a fine of not less than £150 and not more than 
£400 as specified by the waste collection authority, and £200 if no amount is 
specified by the authority. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Members note the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) 
Regulations 2016 which come into force on 9 May 2016.

2.2 That the penalty charge for Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalty 
Notices) be set at £400 (four hundred pounds) reduced to £250 (two hundred 
and fifty pounds), if paid within 10 days. 

2.3 That delegated authority be granted to the Strategic Director (External 
Services) under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended) to make 
appropriate arrangements for the issuing of fixed penalty notices for the 
unauthorised deposit of waste.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Fly-tipping is an offence under section 33(1) of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 (as amended), which provides that it is an offence 
to deposit controlled or extractive waste in or on any land without a 
permit, or in breach of a permit.

3.2. The number of fly tipping incidents in the Borough over recent years 
can be broken down as follows: 2013 – 226, 2014 – 329, 2015 – 291 
(this includes a number of far larger industrial level fly tips at locations 
including Central Road and Mabledon), 2016 (January to March) – 77 
thus far.

3.3. To date the Council has had two options when enforcing against fly-
tipping offenders. These have been to take formal court proceedings or 
to issue a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) (a type of civil sanction) for 
depositing litter, which amounts to a £80 penalty (reduced to £50 if paid 
within 10 days). Both options require the perpetrator to be identified.  
An FPN offers the opportunity to discharge any liability to conviction for 
the offence to which it relates by payment of a fixed penalty and is 



CABINET
  14 APRIL 2016

applied in cases where prosecution is unlikely to be cost-effective. 
Prosecution is instigated in more serious cases, such as for high 
volume, commercial or organised tipping.

3.4. The number of FPNs issued for fly tipping offences can be broken 
down as follows: 2013 – 58, 2014 – 103, 2015 – 82, 2016 – 13 thus far. 
Court proceedings have been taken against higher level offenders as 
follows: 2013 – 1, 2014 – 6, 2015 – 5.

3.5. As can be seen, despite the best efforts of the Enforcement Team 
which comprises experienced investigators, the perpetrator of the 
majority of fly-tips cannot be identified. It is important that those that 
are identified receive a sanction that properly reflects the damage to 
the environment and local community, the cost to the local authority in 
clearing the waste material and detecting the offence, and also acts as 
a deterrent against future offending, both for the identified offender 
and, if suitably publicised, for others who may be minded to fly-tip. An 
£80 penalty falls short on all counts.

3.6. Government has recognised these issues and introduced the 
Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalty Notices) Regulations 
2016 which provide for a fine of not less than £150 and not more than 
£400 as specified by the waste collection authority and a default value 
of £200 if no amount is specified by the authority. The Regulations are 
intended to provide local authorities with a more appropriate tool to 
tackle small-scale fly-tipping and come into force on 9 May 2016.

3.7. Investigations into fly-tipping are resource intensive and can be lengthy 
and complex, requiring Enforcement Officers to analyse tipped waste 
material and establish a ‘chain’ to trace the material back to source in 
order to identify potential offenders. It is recommended therefore that 
the Council sets the penalty charge for Unauthorised Deposit of Waste 
(Fixed Penalty Notices) at £400 (four hundred pounds) and offer a 
discount to £250 if paid within 10 days.

3.8. The new higher threshold of FPN penalties will provide a more 
proportionate and expeditious approach for the Council to deal with 
small-scale fly-tipping of waste offences and act as a deterrent for 
would be offenders. The scale of penalty helps to differentiate the 
offence from that of casual street littering. The Council will continue to 
prosecute serious cases and repeat offenders through the court, 
together with those who fail to pay the FPN.

3.9. The government will publish supporting guidance to waste collection 
authorities when the Regulations come into force and intends to make 
further amendments later in 2016, to improve waste enforcement.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and 
socialise.



CABINET
  14 APRIL 2016

SC1: To use the Council’s statutory functions to ensure public safety 
in the Borough.

SC2: To reduce anti-social behaviour

SC3: To increase public perception of the borough as a safe place

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications Whilst likely that the new provisions will have 
a positive financial effect it is not considered 
prudent to set a specific income budget at this 
stage.

Legal Implications Section 33 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 (as amended) with effect 9 May 
2016, has effect as detailed in the body of the 
report.

Staffing Implications The new provisions will be delivered within/by 
existing resources.

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Salisbury 
(01322) 343339

Enforcement 
and 
Regulatory 
Services, 
External 
Services

N/A





CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

STREET  NAMING AND NUMBERING – FASTRACK MANOR WAY

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Wards

1. Summary

1.1 To approve the renaming of Fastrack Manor Way.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet approve Tiltman Avenue as the new road name.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. A request was received from one of the Greenhithe Ward Members 
regarding the possibility of renaming Fastrack Manor Way.  When the 
road was named, the SNN Officer was told it would be a Fastrack Bus 
and Emergency Services road only and it was named using the agreed 
Fastrack convention. It is now apparent that this is not the case and the 
current name may be misleading. There are no properties currently 
addressed on the road so a change in name at this stage would have 
no knock on effect for residents.

3.2. The proposed name was submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, the Parish Council, Emergency 
Services, Royal Mail and the current owner of the road (Crest 
Nicholson) on February 29th 2016.  The name complies with the 
Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Keith Kelly, Coleman, Lloyd, Mote, Mrs Allen and Kent 
Police are all happy with the proposal. Councillor Kelly said that the 
family of Claire Tiltman are aware of the proposal and are happy with it.

3.4. Councillor Lees felt that the name would be more appropriately used in 
Stone, being the parish Claire Tiltman lived in, as a way to 
commemorate and celebrate where she lived her life rather than in 
Greenhithe which is linked to where it was sadly taken. He also pointed 
out that the majority of the road is in Swanscombe Ward which has no 
link to the name.  Swanscombe & Greenhithe Parish Council 
commented that although the address of Claire’s house was 
Greenhithe, it fell under Stone Parish. 

3.5. Councillor Mrs Thurlow felt that whilst it is a sensitive issue, if it helped 
Claire’s friends who campaigned for justice, she was in favour of the 
change.  

3.6. There were no other responses.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Map showing Fastrack Manor Way

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



Swanscombe

Greenhithe FASTRACK MANOR WAY

C:
\U

se
rs\

se
as

tw
oo

d\D
es

kto
p\M

ap
 Te

mp
lat

es
\P

I_M
ap

pin
g_

A4
_L

an
d_

da
te.

mx
d

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
29

/02
/20

16
 10

:43
 A

M

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with  the permission of the Contro ller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2015

Unauthor ised reproduction 
In fr inges Crown C opyright and 
May lead to  prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council  100025870  2015

@ A4°1:2,500Street Renaming
Fastrack Manor Way

APPENDIX A





CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY – FURTHER SUBMISSION 

1. Summary

1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 
38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to an 
additional response to the Government’s consultation on proposed changes 
to the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), relating to an 
additional response to the Government’s consultation on proposed changes 
to the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must 
be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or 
Panel responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of 
Reference.

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Managing Director, as 
specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to an additional 
response to the Government’s consultation on proposed changes to 
the National Planning Policy Framework.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
14 APRIL 2016

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The report which relates to an additional response to 
the Government’s consultation on proposed changes 
to National Planning Policy.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A                             
MANAGING DIRECTOR

February 2016

CONSULTATION ON PROPOSED CHANGES TO NATIONAL 
PLANNING POLICY – FURTHER SUBMISSION

1. Summary

1.1 The government is consulting on a range of changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  The Council’s response to the 
consultation was agreed by Cabinet of 21 January 2016.  A recent High 
Court judgement has implications for the response and a further submission 
to cover the issues that have arisen is proposed.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the additional response attached at Appendix A be submitted alongside 
the Council’s previously agreed response to the consultation.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Cabinet of 21 January agreed a Council response to the government’s 
consultation on proposed changes to National Planning Policy.  Since 
that time the Council has received the outcome of a High Court 
challenge relating to the development of garden land in the Green Belt.  

3.2. In this case, the judge was required to consider the definition of 
brownfield/greenfield land, as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  The NPPF excludes gardens in built up areas 
from the definition of brownfield land but it is unclear whether gardens 
in the countryside outside of settlements are to be treated in the same 
way.  He concluded that applying strictly the definition in the NPPF, 
gardens outside built up areas were to be considered as brownfield.

3.3. The consultation proposes that brownfield sites are prioritised for 
development.  Taken in conjunction with the recent judgement, this 
would appear to have the unintended consequence of identifying for 
development those sites that are the least sustainable, since they are 
likely to be remote from public transport and not have easy access to 
local facilities by sustainable forms of transport.  They will also 
potentially have impacts on the open nature of the countryside/Green 
Belt.

3.4. An additional response is provided at Appendix A which identifies the 
Council’s concerns in this respect.



APPENDIX A                             
MANAGING DIRECTOR

February 2016

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to 
all our communities.  

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy – 
Additional Response

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Consultation on Proposed 
Changes to National Planning 
Policy, DECLG Dec 15

Teresa Ryszkowska 
(01322) 343631

Strategic 
(External 
Services) 
Directorate

N/A



Appendix A to report to Managing Director

APPENDIX A: Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy – Additional Response

This representation relates to the government’s proposals to support the delivery of 
housing on brownfield land, specifically in light of the recent High Court judgement in the 
case of Dartford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government (CO/4129/2015).

The ‘presumption’ in favour of brownfield land for housing

Under the government’s proposals, development proposals for housing on brownfield land 
should be supported unless overriding conflicts with the Local Plan or NPPF can be 
demonstrated and cannot be mitigated.

The High Court, in the case of Dartford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government (CO/4129/2015), found that residential gardens in ‘non-built up’ 
areas constitute previously developed, or brownfield, land.

This  judgement, whilst in accordance with  the definition of Previously Developed Land in 
Appendix 2 Glossary of the NPPF, appears to contradict the intent of the Secretary of State’s 
Letter to Chief Planning Officers of 19 January 2010, which amended the then Planning 
Policy Statement 3 definition of previously developed land, which had until that point stated 
“there is no presumption that previously developed land is necessarily suitable for housing, 
nor that all of the curtilage should be developed” to explicitly exclude private residential 
gardens from the definition of previously developed land in annex B of the Statement. This 
was specifically in relation to the issue of ‘garden grabbing’ and the letter additionally  set 
out that “these changes emphasise it is for local authorities and communities to take the 
decisions that are best for them, and decide for themselves the best locations and types of 
development in their areas”.

By  introducing the proposed ‘presumption’ in favour of brownfield land  and taking into 
account the current definition of previously developed land in the NPPF, it is conceivable 
that development proposals for housing in residential gardens in ‘non-built up’ areas would 
be considered acceptable. This appears to contradict the intent behind the proposed 
changes, as professed in the government’s consultation paper: “we will retain protection 
against unwanted development of back gardens”. This statement does not specifically 
indicate that residential gardens in ‘non-built up’ areas should be less protected than 
residential gardens in ‘built up’ areas and accords with the approach introduced through the 
amendment made to PPS3  in 2010.

Dartford’s approach to windfall housing development

In accordance with the ambition expressed in 2010 for local authorities to decide where 
development should be located, Dartford has a specific defined approach to windfall sites, 
set out in Core Strategy Policy CS10 and the Housing Windfall SPD 2014. Due to the Core 



Appendix A to report to Managing Director

Strategy’s vision for large-scale growth on former industrial sites in the urban area, and 
associated infrastructure capacity concerns, the issue of small-scale windfall sites is 
significant in the Dartford context and such proposals need to be carefully considered and 
managed. Unplanned development of windfall sites may lead to Dartford over-delivering 
against the Core Strategy’s ‘up to’ target of 17,300 homes over the plan period and to 
residential development being situated in inappropriate locations. This would jeopardise the 
sustainability of planned development in the Borough, particularly due to uncertainty about 
the capacity of both planned for and existing infrastructure to meet demand.

Furthermore, development on residential gardens should not be included within a five year 
housing land supply calculation. At NPPF Paragraph 48, specific mention is made that all 
residential gardens should be excluded from windfall calculations for the purposes of 
calculating a five year housing land supply, not just those in ‘built-up’ areas.

Overall the proposed changes to national policy will likely result in a higher probability that 
unplanned development comes forward on windfall sites in rural ‘non-built up’ locations 
which may prevent local authorities determining whether or not these locations are 
acceptable in their local areas. In Dartford and other localities this could lead to a risk of 
compromising the sustainability of the Local Planning strategy. A presumption in favour of 
development of garden land in rural locations for housing could also lead to unsustainable 
travel patterns and further encourage private car use, and undermine local strategies to 
achieve sustainable development and the aims of national and local planning policy. This is 
important in Dartford as the sustainability of the Core Strategy is underpinned by achieving 
modal shift away from the private car.

Effect on landscape and rural character

Development of garden land in ‘non-built up’ areas for housing could have a significant 
impact on landscape character in rural locations. The impact of cumulative or potentially 
large ‘garden land’ developments could serve to undermine the rural character of a wider 
area, especially when taken at a landscape scale considering the fundamentally open nature 
of countryside locations outside of defined ‘built-up’ areas. National Policy and Local Plan 
provisions may not sufficiently provide protection with regard to the impacts of these types 
of development.

Suggested amendments to national planning policy

If the proposed ‘presumption’ in favour of brownfield land for housing is introduced, robust 
definitions of suitable brownfield land for housing and clear guidance on the presumption in 
favour of brownfield land for housing should be included within or alongside the policy. This 
should reflect on the implications of the approach in ensuring that sustainable development 
patterns that reflect local circumstances continue to be encouraged.



Appendix A to report to Managing Director

It should be clearly set out in national policy that the proposed locally-led register of 
brownfield sites suitable for housing should be the primary mechanism for considering the 
grant permission on suitable brownfield land.  This will enable local authorities and 
communities to determine the most appropriate locations for development. Only where 
such a register is deemed out-of-date or there is significant under delivery of planned 
development should other brownfield sites be considered and assessed.

The opportunity to clarify the definition of ‘previously developed land’ as set out in Annex 2 
of the NPPF, should be taken in updating the NPPF.  The main text of the NPPF would 
appear to imply that garden land in rural areas should be treated the same as garden land in 
built-up areas, in contrast to the definition in the Glossary.  Amendment of the Glossary to 
include garden land outside built up areas within the definition of greenfield land  would 
guard against the unintended consequence of unsustainable sites, due to their poor access 
to and local facilities, being prioritised for development.





APPENDIX B




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 March 2016
	7 Implementing the Dartford Development Policies Plan
	Development Policies Local Plan APPENDIX A FINAL cleared

	8 Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016
	9 Street Naming and Numbering - Fastrack Manor Way
	Street Naming APPENDIX A

	10 Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: Consultation on Proposed Changes to National Planning Policy - Further Submission
	SO38 NPPF Consultation APPENDIX A PART 1 FINAL cleared
	SO38 NPPF Consultation APPENDIX A PART 2 FINAL cleared
	SO38 NPPF Consultation APPENDIX B FINAL cleared




